Alpha Networks Inc.

Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' Meeting

- Article 1 Unless otherwise provided by laws and regulations, the shareholders' meeting of the Company shall be held in accordance with the Rules.
 - Unless otherwise provided by the competent securities authority, the virtual shareholders' meeting of the Company shall be held in accordance with the Rules.
- Article 2 Shareholders, proxies solicitors and agent (collectively "shareholders") attending the shareholders' meeting shall submit a sign-in card to sign in. In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, shareholders wishing to attend the meeting online shall register with the Company two days before the meeting date. For virtual shareholders meetings, shareholders may begin to register on the virtual meeting platform 30 minutes before the meeting starts. Shareholders completing registration will be deemed as attend the shareholders meeting in person.
- **Article 3** The attendance and voting by shareholders shall be duly calculated based on the number of shares held.
 - Attendance at shareholders meetings shall be calculated based on numbers of shares. The number of shares in attendance shall be calculated according to the shares indicated by the attendance book and sign-in cards handed in, and the shares checked in on the virtual meeting platform, plus the number of shares whose voting rights are exercised by correspondence or electronically.
- Article 3-1 The venue for a shareholders meeting shall be the premises of the Company, or a place easily accessible to shareholders and suitable for a shareholders meeting. The meeting may begin no earlier than 9 a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. The restrictions on the place of the meeting shall not apply when the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders meeting.
 - Changes to how the Company convenes its shareholders meeting shall be resolved by the board of directors, and shall be made no later than mailing of the shareholders meeting notice.
- Article 4 If the shareholders' meeting is convened by the board of directors, the meeting shall be chaired by the chairperson of the board. When the chairperson is on leave or for any reason unable to exercise the powers of the chairperson, the vice chairperson shall act in place of the chairperson; if there is no vice chairperson or the vice chairperson is also on leave or for any reason unable to exercise the powers of the vice chairperson, the chairperson shall appoint one of the managing directors to act as chair. Or, if there are no managing directors, one of the directors shall be appointed to act as chairperson. Where the chairperson does not make such a designation, the managing directors or the directors shall select from among themselves one person to serve as the chair.

- **Article 4-1** When a company will convene a shareholders' meeting with video conferencing, it shall specify the following matters in the shareholders' meeting notice:
 - 1. The means for shareholders to take part in the video conferencing and exercise their rights.
 - 2. Measures to be taken if, due to circumstances of a natural disaster, unforeseen event, or other force majeure event, any disruption occurs in the video conferencing platform or in participation by means of video conferencing, including at least the following particulars:
 - (1) To what time the meeting is postponed or from what time the meeting will resume if the above disruption continues and cannot be eliminated, and the date to which the meeting is postponed or on which the meeting will resume.
 - (2) Shareholders that have not registered to take part by video conference in the originally scheduled shareholders' meeting may not take part by video conference in the postponed or reconvened meeting.
 - (3) When the Company convenes a hybrid shareholders meeting, if the virtual meeting cannot be continued, then if the total number of shares represented at the meeting, after deducting those represented by shareholders attending the shareholders meeting by video conferencing, meets the legal quorum for holding a shareholder meeting, the shareholders meeting shall continue in session. The number of shares represented by the shareholders, proxy solicitors, or proxy agents who were attending the shareholders' meeting by video conferencing shall be counted toward the total number of shares represented by the shareholders attending the meeting, but they shall be deemed to have waived their voting rights on all proposals at that shareholders' meeting.
 - (4) Measures to be taken if the outcome of all proposals have been announced but extemporary motions have not yet been proceeded with.
 - 3. When the Company convenes a virtual-only shareholders' meeting, it furthermore shall specify appropriate alternative measures available to shareholders who have difficulty taking part in a virtual shareholders' meeting.
- Article 5 The Company may appoint the designated attorneys, CPAs or relevant persons to attend the shareholders' meeting. The staffs handling administrative affairs of the shareholders' meeting shall wear identification cards or armbands.
- Article 6 The process of the shareholders' meeting shall be tape-recorded or videotaped and these recorded materials shall be preserved for at least one year. Where a shareholders meeting is held online, the Company shall keep records of shareholder registration, sign-in, check-in, questions raised, votes cast and results of votes counted by the Company, and continuously audio and video record, without interruption, the proceedings of the virtual meeting from beginning to end.

The information and audio and video recording in the preceding paragraph shall be properly kept by the Company during the entirety of its existence, and copies of the audio and video recording shall be provided to and kept by the party appointed to handle matters of the virtual meeting.

Article 7 The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting time. However, when the attending shareholders do not represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, the chair may announce a postponement, provided that no more than two such postponements, for a combined total of no more than one hour, may be made. If the quorum is not met after two postponements but the attending shareholders represent one third or more of the total number of issued

the virtual meeting platform.

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in the preceding paragraph, but the attending shareholders represent one third or more of the total number of issued shares, a tentative resolution may be adopted pursuant to Article 175, paragraph 1 of the Company Act. All shareholders shall be notified of the tentative resolution and another shareholders meeting shall be convened within one month. In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, shareholders intending to attend the meeting online shall re-register to the Company within 2 days held shareholdings' meeting.

shares, the chair shall declare the meeting adjourned. In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, the Company shall also declare the meeting adjourned at

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending shareholders represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, the chair may resubmit the tentative resolution for a vote by the shareholders meeting pursuant to Article 174 of the Company Act.

Article 8 If a shareholders meeting is convened by the board of directors, the meeting agenda shall be set by the board of directors. The meeting shall proceed in the order set by the agenda, which may not be changed without a resolution of the shareholders' meeting.

The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis to a shareholders meeting convened by a party with the power to convene that is not the board of directors.

The chair may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to completion of deliberation on the meeting agenda (including extraordinary motions), except by a resolution of the shareholders meeting. The shareholders may not designate other person as the chair to continue the meeting at the original or other place after the meeting is adjourned. If the chair declares the meeting adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the attending shareholders can elect a new chair by agreement of a majority of the votes represented by the attending shareholders, and then continue the meeting.

Article 9 Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a speaker's slip the subject of the speech, his/her shareholder account number (or attendance card number), and account name. The order in which shareholders speak will be set by the chair. A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker's slip but does not actually speak shall be deemed to have not spoken. When the content of the speech does not correspond to the subject given on the speaker's slip, the spoken content shall prevail.

Article10 Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak more than twice on the same agenda, and a single speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the shareholder's speech violates the rules or exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the chair may terminate the speech.

Where a virtual shareholders meeting is convened, shareholders attending the virtual meeting online may raise questions in writing at the virtual meeting platform from the chair declaring the meeting open until the chair declaring the meeting adjourned. No more than two questions for the same proposal may be raised. Each question shall contain no more than 200 words. The regulations in preceding article and paragraphs 1 in this article do not apply.

- Article 11 A corporate shareholder being entrusted to attend in a shareholders meeting may appoint only one representative to represent it in the meeting.

 When a corporate shareholder appoints two or more representatives to attend a shareholders meeting, only one of the representatives so appointed may speak on the same proposal.
- **Article 12** After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chair may respond in person or direct relevant personnel to respond.
- Article 13 When the chair is of the opinion that an agenda has been discussed sufficiently to put it to a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed, call for a vote.
- Article 14 The persons for supervising the casting of votes and the counting thereof for resolutions shall be designated by the chair; however, that the person supervising the casting of votes shall be a shareholder. The results of resolution(s) shall be announced in the meeting, and recorded in the meeting minutes.
- **Article 15** During the proceedings of a meeting, the chair may consider the schedule and announce for a break.
- Article 16 When the Company holds a shareholder meeting, it can adopt exercise of voting rights by electronic means and may adopt exercise of voting rights by correspondence. The exercise method and related matters shall be executed in accordance with Company Act and the regulations of the authority.

Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and the Company's Articles of Incorporation, the passage of an agenda shall require an affirmative vote of a majority of the voting rights represented by the attending shareholders. The resolution shall be deemed adopted and shall have the same effect as if it was voted by casting ballots if no objection is voiced after solicitation by the chairperson. If an objection exists, the resolution shall be voted by casting ballots.

During the voting process, an agenda is deemed as having been duly resolved if no shareholder objects in response to consultation by the chair and the agenda so resolved is equally valid as the one resolved through casting of ballots. In case an objection is heard, the agenda shall be resolved through casting of ballots.

When the Company convenes a virtual shareholders meeting, after the chair declares the meeting open, shareholders attending the meeting online shall cast votes on proposals and elections on the virtual meeting platform before the chair announces the voting session ends or will be deemed abstained from voting.

In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, votes shall be counted at once after the chair announces the voting session ends, and results of votes and elections shall be announced immediately.

- Article 17 If there shall be an amendment or alternative to one agenda, the chair may combine the amendment or alternative into the original agenda, and determine their orders for resolution. Any one of the above shall be resolved, the others shall be considered as rejected, upon which no further resolution shall be required.
- Article 18 In the event of a virtual shareholders meeting, if the virtual meeting platform or participation in the virtual meeting is obstructed due to natural disasters, accidents or other force majeure events before the chair has announced the meeting adjourned, and the obstruction continues for more than 30 minutes, the meeting shall be postponed to or resumed on another date within five days, in which case Article 182 of the Company Act shall not apply.
- Article 19 The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help maintain order at the meeting place. When proctors or security personnel help maintain order at the meeting place, they shall wear an identification card or armband bearing the word "Proctor."
- **Article 20** The rules and procedures shall be effective from the date it is adopted by the shareholders' meetings. The same applies in case of amendment.
- Article 21 The Rules was formulated on March 2nd, 2004 at Special Shareholders' Meeting. The first amendment was made on June 9th, 2006.

 The second amendment was made on June 18th, 2015.

 The third amendment was made on May 31st, 2023.